I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Circuit Court improperly held that a merger clause in a Retail Installment 

Contract executed by and between Respondents and a non-party, Crossroads Chevrolet LLC, 

negated a separate, earlier Contract of Arbitration entered into among different parties, 

Respondents and TD Auto Finance LLC ("TDAF"). 

2. The Circuit Court improperly held that the Contract of Arbitration executed by 

Respondents changed the contract entered into by and between Respondents and Crossroads 

Chevrolet LLC. 

3. The Circuit Court failed to give effect to the Contract of Arbitration's clear and 

concise provisions which unambiguously extended to any subsequently executed Retail 

Installment Contract. 
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II. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Factual Background 

Freddie and Shelby Reynolds ("Respondents" or "Reynolds") filed a four ( 4) count 

Complaint against TDAF, Focus Receivables Management, LLC and Northstar Location 

Service, LLC Uointly "Petitioners"), asserting alleged violations of the West Virginia Consumer 

Credit and Protection Act, the West Virginia Computer Crime and Abuse Act, Intentional 

Infliction of Emotional Distress and Common Law Invasion of Privacy.' App. P. 1 

The actions complained of arose out of the collection efforts of the Petitioners when they 

attempted to collect on the defaulted auto loan of the Respondents. App. P. 5. 

The Reynolds purchased an automobile from Crossroads Chevrolet LLC. App. P. 65. 

As part of this purchase, the Reynolds signed two separate contracts. First, the Reynolds signed 

a Credit Application authorizing TDAF to conduct a credit investigation. App. P. 66-70. 

Second, the Reynolds executed a Retail Installment Sale Contract (hereafter the "RISC"). App. 

P. 63. The RISC was then assigned to TDAF. App. P. 65. 

The Credit Application executed by the Reynolds provides, in part (App. P. 68): 

This paragraph applies to applications to TD AUTO Finance Only: 
IN EXCHANGE FOR THE TIME, EFFORT, AND EXPENSE IN REVIEWING 
YOUR APPLICATION AND FOR OTHER VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, 
WHICH IS HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGED, SOLELY AS BETWEEN YOU AND 
TD AUTO FINANCE LLC, YOU AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS OF THE TD 
AUTO FINANCE LLC CONTRACT OF ARBITRATION CONTAINED IN THIS 
APPLICATION AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HA VE READ AND 
UNDERSTAND ALL OF ITS TERMS. (Bold in original) 

* * * 

1 After the filing of the Complaint and the Circuit Court's Order denying the Respondents' Motion to 
Compel Arbitration, Respondents amended their Complaint to assert a Class Action Claim for alleged violation of 
the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act. (App. P. 162) 
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The Contract of Arbitration attached to the Credit Application contemplated the 

subsequent RISC and states in full as follows (hereinafter the "Arbitration Agreement" or 

"Contract of Arbitration"): 

IMPORTANT CONTRACT OF ARBITRATION 

The following Important Contract of Arbitration significantly affects Applicant's, 
Co-Applicant's or Guarantor's (individually or collectively "you" or "your") rights in any 
dispute with Dealer, TD Auto Finance LLC and any finance company, bank, or other 
financial institution to which the Dealer or TD Auto Finance LLC submits this application. 
Please read this carefully before signing this application and Important Contract of 
Arbitration. 

For the purposes of this Important Contract of Arbitration, the term "TD Auto Finance" 
means TD Auto Finance LLC and any finance company, bank, or other financial institution to 
which Dealer or TD Auto Finance LLC submits this application. The terms "us" or "our" means 
the Applicant, Co-Applicant, Guarantor, and Dealer, and TD Auto Finance. 

1. If any of us chooses, any dispute between or among us will be decided by arbitration 
and not in court. 

2. If a dispute is arbitrated, each of us will give up the right to a trial by a court or a jury 
trial. 

3. Each of us agrees to give up any right to bring a class-action lawsuit or class 
arbitration, or to participate in either as a claimant, and each of us agrees to give up 
any right to consolidate our arbitration with the arbitration of others. 

4. The information that can be obtained in discovery from each other or from third 
persons in an arbitration is generally more limited than in a lawsuit. 

5. Other rights that each of us have in court may not be available in arbitration. 
6. Any claim or dispute, whether in contract, tort or othenvise (including any dispute 

over the interpretation, scope, or validity of this Important Contract of Arbitration or 
the arbitrability of any issue), between our employees, parents, subsidiaries, affiliate 
companies, agents, successors or assignees, which arises out of or relates to this 
application and Important Contract of Arbitration, any installment sale contract or 
lease agreement, or any resulting transaction or relationship (including any such 
relationship with third parties who do not sign this application and Important Contract 
of Arbitration) shall, at the election of any of us (or the election of any such third 
party), be resolved by a neutral, binding arbitration and not by a court action. Any 
claim or dispute is to be arbitrated on an individual basis and not as a class action. 
Whoever first demands arbitration may choose to proceed under the rules of the 
American Arbitration Association, 1633 Broadway, I 0th Floor, New York, New 
York 10019, www.adr.org, or any other arbitration association you choose that is 
acceptable to us. 
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7. Whichever rules are chose, the arbitrator shall be an attorney or retired judge and shall 
be selected in accordance with the applicable rules. The arbitrator shall apply the law 
in deciding the dispute. Unless the applicable rules require otherwise, the arbitration 
award shall be issued without written opinion. The arbitration hearing shall be 
conducted in the federal district in which you reside. If you demand arbitration first, 
you will pay the arbitration filing fees or case management fees required by the 
applicable rules up to $215, and Dealer or TD Auto Finance will pay any additional 
initial filing fee or case management fee. Dealer or TD Auto Finance will pay the 
whole filing fee or case management fee if Dealer or TD Auto Finance demands 
arbitration first. Dealer or TD Auto Finance will pay the arbitration costs and fees for 
the first day of arbitration, up to a maximum of eight hours. The arbitrator shall 
decide who shall pay any additional costs and fees. Nothing in this paragraph shall 
prevent any party from requesting that the applicable arbitration entity reduce or 
waive the fees any of us are required to pay, or that requesting any of us to voluntarily 
pay an additional share of said fees, based upon the financial circumstances of any 
party or the nature of the claim. 

8. This application and Important Contract of Arbitration evidences a transaction 
involving interstate commerce. Any arbitration under this application and Important 
Contract of Arbitration shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. 1, 
et seq). Judgment upon the award rendered may be entered in any court having 
jurisdiction. 

9. Notwithstanding this application and Important Contract of Arbitration, you, Dealer, 
TD Auto Finance, and our employees, parents, subsidiaries, affiliate companies, 
agents, successors, and assignees retain the right to exercise self-help remedies and to 
seek provisional remedies from a court, pending final determination of the dispute by 
the arbitrator. None of us waives the right to arbitrate by exercising self-help 
remedies, filing suit, or seeking or obtaining provisional remedies from a court. 

I 0. If any clause within this Important Contract of Arbitration, other than clause 3 or any 
similar provision dealing with class action, class arbitration or consolidation, is found 
to be illegal or unenforceable, that clause will be severed from this Important 
Contract of Arbitration, and the remainder of this Important Contract of Arbitration 
will be given full force and effect. If any part of clause 3 or any similar provision 
dealing with class action, class arbitration or consolidation, is found to be illegal or 
unenforceable, then this entire Important Contract of Arbitration, and the remaining 
provisions of this application shall be given full force and effect as if this Important 
Contract of Arbitration had not been included in this application. 

App. P. 70. (emphasis added) 

Petitioners, Focus Receivables Management, LLC and Northstar Location Services, LLC 

are alleged agents of TDAF used in the collection of the debt of Respondents. App. P. 7. 
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All Petitioners filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings (App. P. 19) 

and the Circuit Court of Mercer County denied that Motion. App. P. 157. The denial of the 

Motion to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings is the subject of this Appeal. 

Defendants seek the reversal of the Order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration and 

seek to have the matter arbitrated as agreed to by Respondents. 

B. Procedural History 

On October 13, 2017, the Respondents filed this civil action in the Circuit Court against 

Petitioners, alleging violation of the (1) West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act, (2) 

West Virginia Computer Crime and Abuse Act, (3) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, 

and (4) Common Law Invasion of Privacy. On November 17, 2017, Petitioners served its 

Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, Compel Arbitration (the "Motion") on counsel for 

Respondents. App. P. 19. On February 28, 2018, Petitioners filed a "Supplemental Basis for 

Motion to Compel Arbitration. App. P. 71. The Motion was briefed and the Circuit Court heard 

oral argument on May 23, 2018. App. P. 130. On June 29, 2018, the Circuit Court entered an 

Order denying Petitioners' Motion (the "Order"). App. P. 157. It is from this Order that 

Petitioners' appeal is pending. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The primary issues to be decided in this appeal are straightforward. "In exchange for the 

time, effort and expense of TDAF reviewing your [Respondents'] application and for other 

valuable consideration", Respondents signed an Arbitration Agreement that would govern any 

disputes that the Respondents may have with TDAF or its agents and TDAF is seeking to have 

this Court enforce that right to arbitration agreed to by Respondents. 

In denying Petitioners' Motion, the Circuit Court erroneously found that 
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"a valid arbitration agreement did not exist between the parties 
due to an integration clause that was included in the RISC. This 
integration clause prohibits the prior credit application's arbitration 
agreement from being included in the final agreement." [ App. P. 
161]. 

As shown below, the Circuit Court (1) improperly found a "merger clause" contained in a 

contract between a non-party and Respondents to control (2) ignored that the clear fact that the 

Arbitration Agreement did not change any terms of the financing agreement entered into by 

Respondents, and (3) failed to give effect to the unambiguous language of the Arbitration 

Agreement that a financing agreement would be entered into. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioners submit that oral argument is unnecessary in this case. The appeal presents no 

novel questions of West Virginia law, or unique factual or procedural issues. The dispositive 

issues in this case have previously been authoritatively decided by this Court and the United 

States Supreme Court, and the Circuit Court's Order simply misapplies the law to undisputed 

facts. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal, 

and the decisional process will not be significantly aided by oral argument A memorandum 

decision reversing the Circuit Court's decision is appropriate under Rule 21 of the Revised Rules 

of Appellate Procedure. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Jurisdiction 

Pursuant to Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front, "an order denying a motion to compel 

arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral 

order doctrine." Sy!. Pt. 1,231 W. Va. 518, 745 S.E.2d 556 (2013). Petitioners appeal the June 

8, 2018 Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, or, in the Alternative, Compel 
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Arbitration from the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia and an immediate appeal of 

this Order is proper. 

B. Standard of Review. 

On appeal to this Court, '"review of whether [an] [arbitration] [ a ]greement represents a 

valid and enforceable contract is de nova."' Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp., 228 W. Va. 

646, 663, n.12, 724 S.E.2d 250, 267 n.12 (2011), vacated sub nom. Marmet Health Care Ctr., 

Inc. v. Brown, 565 U.S. 530, 132 S. Ct. 1201 (2012) ("Brown I") (quoting State ex rel. Saylor v. 

Wilkes, 216 W. Va. 766, 772, 613 S.E.2d 914, 920 (2005)). Likewise, "[i]nterpreting a statute[ . 

. . ] presents a purely legal question subject to de nova review." Sy!. Pt. 1, Fountain Place 

Cinema 8, LLC v. Morris, 227 W. Va. 249, 707 S.E.2d 859 (2011); Sy!. Pt. 4, Burgess v. 

Porterfield, 196 W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996). "Generally, findings of fact are reviewed 

for clear error[ ... ]." Sy!. Pt. 1, in part, State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W. Va. 208,470 

S.E.2d 162 (1996). "However, ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or 

constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed de 

nova." Id. 

The issues to be decided in this appeal concern legal questions of statutory construction 

and contract interpretation. There is no dispute concerning the background facts relevant to the 

appeal of these particular issues. Accordingly, this Court reviews the legal conclusions of the 

Circuit Court de nova, and the Circuit Court's final order and ultimate disposition under an abuse 

of discretion standard. 
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C. The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., mandates that this dispute 
was to be compelled to arbitration for resolution. 

Where a dispute that is referable to arbitration pursuant to a written agreement 1s 

improperly filed in state or federal court, the FAA mandates that "upon being satisfied that the 

making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith is not in issue, the 

court shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the 

terms of the agreement." 9 U.S.C. § 4. Similarly, in such circumstances, the FAA requires that 

the court "shall on application of one of the parties stay the trial of the action until such 

arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement. ... " 9 U.S.C. § 3. 

The FAA reflects a strong and "liberal" public policy in favor of the strict enforcement of 

arbitration agreements by the terms set forth in such agreements. See AT&T Mobility LLC v. 

Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). In fact, this Court has reiterated the strong public policy 

under both federal and state law recognizing the benefits of arbitration as a forum of dispute 

resolution. See Parsons v. Halliburton Energy Servs., 237 W. Va. 138, 146, 785 S.E.2d 844,852 

(2016) (citing Moses H. Cone Mem'l Hosp. v. Mercury Const. Corp., 460 U.S. I, 24-25 (1983)) 

([The FAA], "is a congressional declaration of a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration 

agreements, notwithstanding any state substantive or procedural policies to the contrary."); W. 

Va. Code § 55-10-2 (acknowledging "a well-established federal policy in favor of arbitral 

dispute resolution" because arbitration "offers in many instances a more efficient and cost-

effective alternative to court litigation."). "Arbitration is also favored because it unburdens 

crowded court dockets." Id. 

Under the FAA, agreements to arbitrate are "valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save 

upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2. 

A party's ability to challenge a valid arbitration agreement is extremely limited; only 
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"[g]enerally applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability, may be 

applied to invalidate arbitration agreements without contravening § 2 of the FAA." Strawn v. 

AT&T Mobility, Inc., 593 F. Supp. 2d 894, 898 (S.D. W. Va. 2009) (quoting Doctor's Assocs., 

Inc. v. Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681 (1996)); see also Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 343 ("Although § 2's 

savings clause preserves generally applicable contract defenses, nothing in it suggests an intent 

to preserve state-law rules that stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the FAA's 

objectives."). 

Indeed, the "principal purpose" of the FAA is "to ensure that private arbitration 

agreements are enforced according to their terms." Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 347 n.6; see also 

Stolt-Nielsen SA. v. AnimalFeeds Int'! Corp., 559 U.S. 662,682 (2010). The FAA's directive to 

federal and state courts "is mandatory" and, therefore, courts have "no choice but to grant a 

motion to compel arbitration where a valid arbitration agreement exists and the issues in a case 

fall within its purview." Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc., 303 F.3d 496, 500 ( 4th Cir. 2002); see also 

Hightower v. GMRI, Inc., 272 F.3d 239, 241 (4th Cir. 2001). The United States District Court 

for the Southern District has stated simply that "[ a ]fter the court decides that a particular dispute 

is covered by an arbitration clause, the court may not proceed to consider the merits of the case 

and must immediately send the case to arbitration." Twin Head Recovery, LLC v. JHJ, LLC, No. 

5:09-cv-00572 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 86037 at *8 (S.D. W. Va. Aug. 20, 2010). (internal 

citations omitted). 

Pursuant to "the federal policy favoring arbitration," "any doubts concerning the scope of 

arbitrable issues" are resolved "in favor of arbitration." Hill v. Peoplesoft USA, Inc., 412 F.3d 

540, 543 ( 4th Cir. 2005) ( emphasis added); see also State ex rel. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC v. 

Webster, 232 W. Va. 341, 360, 752 S.E.2d 372, 391 (2013) ("consistent with [the FAA], courts 
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must rigorously enforce arbitration agreements according to their terms") (citing Am. Express 

Co. v. Italian Colors Rest., 570 U.S. 228,233, 133 S. Ct. 2304, 2309, 186 L. Ed. 2d 417,424 

(2013)). 

As recently stated in Epic Sys. C01p. v. Lewis, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1616 (2018) the Supreme 

Court of the United States stated: (Syllabus Point a) 

The Arbitration Act requires courts to enforce agreements to 
arbitrate, including the terms of arbitration the parties select. See 9 
U.S.C. §§2, 3, 4. These emphatic directions would seem to resolve 
any argument here. The Act's saving clause-which allows courts 
to refuse to enforce arbitration agreements "upon such grounds as 
exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract," §2-
recognizes only '" generally applicable contract defenses, such as 
fraud, duress, or unconscionability,"' AT&T Mobility LLC v. 
Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339, not defenses targeting arbitration 
either by name or by more subtle methods, such as by 
"interfer[ing] with fundamental attributes of arbitration," id., at 
344. By challenging the agreements precisely because they require 
individualized arbitration instead of class or collective 
proceedings, the employees seek to interfere with one of these 
fundamental attributes. 

Thus, as seen, arbitration is to be liberally construed in favor of arbitration and in this 

matter the Circuit Court improperly denied Petitioners' request for arbitration by (I) finding that 

a merger clause continued in the financing documents executed by Respondents with a non-party 

and then assigned to TDAF negated the Contract of Arbitration signed by Respondents for the 

benefit of TDAF, (2) ignoring the fact that the Contract of Arbitration did not change any of the 

terms of the financing documents signed by Respondents and (3) failing to give effect to the 

Contract of Arbitration provisions which unambiguously acknowledged that a financing 

document would be executed. 
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The Circuit Court wrongfully determined that "a valid Arbitration Agreement did not 

exist between the parties due to an integration clause that was included in the RISC." App. P. 

161. 

The Credit Application signed by Respondents directly with TDAF explicitly provides 

that "in exchange for the time, effort and expense in reviewing your application" ... "you 

agree to all of the terms of the TD Auto Finance LLC Contract of Arbitration." App. P. 68. 

The Contract of Arbitration also incorporated the subsequent RISC and clearly states in 

Paragraph 6 (App. P. 70) that: 

"(6) Any claim or dispute, whether in contract, tort or otherwise (including any 
dispute over the interpretation, scope, or validity of this Important Contract of 
Arbitration or the Arbitrability of any issue) ... which arising out of ... any 
installment sale contract... or any resulting transaction or relationship 
(including any such relationship with third parties who do not sign this 
Application and Important Contract of Arbitration) shall, at the election of any of 
us ... be resolved by a neutral, binding Arbitration and not by a court action." 

Instead of recognizing the clear unambiguous language that the Contract of Arbitration

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