# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

## FILE COPY

EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 18-0605

TD AUTO FINANCE LLC; FOCUS RECEIVABLES MANAGEMENT, LLC; and NORTHSTAR LOCATION SERVICES, LLC,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

FREDDIE REYNOLDS and SHELBY REYNOLDS,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' BRIEF**

Steven J. Broadwater, Jr. (WVSB #11355) <a href="mailto:sbroadwater@hamiltonburgess.com">sbroadwater@hamiltonburgess.com</a>
HAMILTON, BURGESS, YOUNG & POLLARD, PLLC
Post Office Box 959
Fayetteville, WV 25840
T: 304-574-2727
F: 304-574-3709

Counsel for Respondents

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners' Assignments of Error principally derive from the argument that the arbitration clause in the credit application cannot bind TDAF to the Merger Clause of the RISC subsequently executed between Respondents and Crossroads. That the parties to the credit application *likewise* were Respondents and Crossroads, however, is not subject to reasonable dispute, and the identity of parties to both contracts poses no hindrance to operation of the Merger Clause in accordance with their express intent. Even were TDAF deemed to have standing to enforce the credit application, the valid Merger Clause would yet bind TDAF as assignee of the beneficial interest under the RISC not only because the credit application was extinguished in its entirety, but also because Respondents' debt collection claims have nothing to do with the credit application and are not within the scope of its arbitration provision.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal involves assignments of error in the application of settled law to unique facts and circumstances. The questions presented are therefore appropriate for oral argument in accordance with Rule 19(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Respondents believe that oral argument would benefit the Court and significantly aid the decisional process. As such, none of the criteria for deciding this appeal without oral argument, set forth in Rule 18(a), are applicable.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Standard of Review

Though Petitioners invoke the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., and the attendant public policy in favor of enforcing agreements to arbitrate, the law is clear that whether an arbitration agreement exists at all is a question of state law for the court. See syl. pt. 4, Ruckdeschel v. Falcon Drilling Co., L.L.C., 225 W. Va. 450 (2010) ("When a trial court is

required to rule upon a motion to compel arbitration pursuant to the [FAA], the authority of the trial court is limited to determining the threshold issues of (1) whether a valid arbitration agreement exists between the parties; and (2) whether the claims averred by the plaintiff fall within the substantive scope of that arbitration agreement." (quoting syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. TD Ameritrade, Inc. v. Kaufman*, 225 W. Va. 250 (2010)).

With respect to the first issue, the court's task centers on the agreement's existence, rather than its substantive validity. *See Bluestem Brands, Inc. v. Shade*, 239 W. Va. 694, 699 (2017) ("[A]n agreement to arbitrate must contain the elements required for proper formation of any contract."); *Citizens Telecomm. Co. of W. Va. v. Sheridan*, 239 W. Va. 67, 73 (2017) ("If the contract defense exists under general state contract law principles, then it may be asserted to counter the claim that an arbitration agreement or a provision therein binds the parties." (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). In line with the controlling federal law, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has clarified that the trial court's inquiry extends to "whether an arbitration agreement is applicable." Syl. pt. 5, *Ruckdeschel*.

In First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995), the Supreme Court of the United States reaffirmed that, in determining whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a dispute, courts "should apply ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts" (citations omitted)). In so deciding, courts must keep in mind that "[t]he FAA does not make all arbitration clauses in whatever writing enforceable; rather, it makes arbitration agreements enforceable." Crown Pontiac, Inc. v. McCarrell, 695 So. 2d 615, 617 (Ala. 1997) (emphasis in original). So, although there was indisputably an "arbitration clause" of uncertain effect appended to Respondents' credit application to Crossroads, the pertinent question is whether the circumstances here gave rise to an "arbitration agreement" between Respondents and TDAF,

foreclosing judicial resolution of a dispute in the collection of a debt allegedly due under the RISC following its assignment. At the end of the day, the FAA should not be so "liberally construed" as to impose an arbitration agreement where none ever existed, or even came close to existing.

### I. RESPONDENTS' CREDIT APPLICATION WAS WITH CROSSROADS, NOT WITH TDAF.

The credit application is notable primarily for the vast swaths of blank space appearing on its first two pages. It contains only the essential personal information necessary to run a credit check. Respondents signed the application in two places: the first set of signatures merely confirmed their intent to apply for credit jointly; the second authorized *Crossroads* and its agents with which the dealer *might* share the application to investigate and evaluate Respondents' creditworthiness. Apart from the authorizations afforded Crossroads, the application stipulated that *if* the application were shared with TDAF at some future juncture, Respondents would *then* agree to the terms of the arbitration provision on the application's last page. But even then, the stated consideration for Respondents' conditional consent was merely the time, trouble, and cost of conducting the credit investigation.

The application was signed by Respondents and no one else, and nothing suggests that either of them suspected they were entering into any contract whatsoever with TDAF, and certainly not one binding either them or TDAF to any sort of obligation at that instant. See A. 160 (circuit court's observation that "[t]he negotiations concerning offers from the auto dealership cannot even begin until after the applicant's credit has been checked"). All Respondents agreed to do was to give Crossroads permission to check their credit in the event that they decided to enter into a contract with Crossroads to buy a truck in the future. TDAF was neither a party nor identified as such. Although the arbitration provision purported to apply if the application were later submitted to TDAF, there is no indication that Respondents were told that TDAF would be given their

application. It is impossible to conclude that any "meeting of the minds," which is "a sine qua non of all contracts," syl. pt. 2, Triad Energy Corp. of W. Va., Inc. v. Renner, 215 W. Va. 573, 600 S.E.2d 285 (2004), occurred between Respondents and TDAF as a result of Respondents filling out a credit application to be processed by Crossroads. See, e.g., Quintech Sec. Consultants, Inc. v. Intralot USA, Inc., No. 2:11-cv-01689, 2011 WL 5105446, at \*3 (D.S.C. Oct. 27, 2011) ("[A] party unknowingly named in an alleged contract clearly fails to satisfy the 'meeting of the minds' element." (citation omitted)).

The credit application is perhaps best characterized as a release — a discrete subspecies of contract — but, at bottom, it is a contract with Crossroads, not TDAF. In *Sheridan, supra*, this Court recognized that "[a] unilateral contract is established where one party makes a promissory offer and the other accepts by performing an act rather than by making a return promise." 239 W. Va. at 73, 799 S.E.2d at 150. Here, Crossroads offered to consider Respondents for an extension of credit, and Respondents accepted that offer by providing their background information and releasing any legal impediments to the dealership's use of that information. That Crossroads then turned to TDAF, among any number of options, to perform the actual credit-check and execute the dealership's part of the bargain is wholly insufficient to establish any contractual relationship between Respondents and TDAF.

Because it was not a party to the credit application, TDAF lacks standing to enforce the arbitration provision . *Cf. Gallagher v. Dupont*, 918 So. 2d 342, 347 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2005) ("When a contract is designed solely for the benefit of the contracting parties, a third party cannot enforce its provisions even though the third party may derive some incidental or consequential benefit from the enforcement." (citation omitted)). TDAF's indisputable status as a *nonparty* to the credit application stands in direct contradiction to — and, indeed, cannot be reconciled with

— the essential premise of Petitioners' First Assignment of Error, *i.e.*, that the operation of the RISC's Merger Clause impermissibly "negated" the application's arbitration provision "entered into among [sic] different parties, Respondents and TD Auto Finance LLC." Pets. Br. at 1.<sup>2</sup>

## II. THE MERGER CLAUSE QUITE SIMPLY EXTINGUISHED THE CREDIT APPLICATION BETWEEN RESPONDENTS AND CROSSROADS IN FAVOR OF THE SUPERSEDING RISC BETWEEN THE SAME TWO PARTIES.

A. By operation of its Merger Clause, the RISC entirely supplants the credit application.

The law provides that "[a]n integrated agreement is a writing or writings constituting a final expression of one of more terms of an agreement." RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 209(1) (1981).<sup>3</sup> Integrated agreements are accomplished through the inclusion of merger clauses, the operation of which are neither unusual nor unjust. The Merger Clause of the RISC here operates to integrate the parties' agreement concerning the purchase of the truck — including all the essential credit terms — and to thereby exclude the preliminary credit application. *See Frederick Bus. Props. Co. v. Peoples Drug Stores, Inc.*, 191 W. Va. 235, 240 n.2 (1994) (explaining that "[a] 'merger clause' is '[a] provision in a contract to the effect that the written

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although the circuit court did not rely on Petitioners' lack of standing to deny their motion to compel arbitration, this Court may affirm the ruling below on any alternative ground apparent from the record. See, e.g., Adams v. Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A., 182 W. Va. 234, 240, 242, 387 S.E.2d 288, 294, 296 (affirming, on other grounds, circuit court's judgment entered on verdict for plaintiffs in lemon-law case). Though not material to its analysis, the court below stated in the "Background" section of its order that "[t]he credit application was between [Respondents] and [TDAF]." A. 158. That observation, as demonstrated by the foregoing discussion, is inaccurate and not binding on this Court regardless of whether it is deemed a finding of fact or a conclusion of law. See, e.g., St. Mary's Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Steel of W. Va., Inc., 240 W. Va. 238, 244, 809 S.E.2d 708, 714 (W. Va. 2018) (recognizing that, in complex cases, "ostensible findings of fact, which entail the application of law or constitute legal judgments which transcend ordinary factual determinations, must be reviewed de novo" (citations and internal quotation marks omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> With respect to questions of contract law yet to be definitively decided in West Virginia, the Supreme Court of Appeals recognizes the principles set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Contracts as authoritative. *See*, *e.g.*, *Ryan v. Ryan*, 220 W. Va. 1, 5-6 (2006) (relying on Restatement to analyze contract issue revolving around mistake of fact, while noting adoption of Restatement position by other jurisdictions).

terms may not be varied by prior or oral agreements because all such agreements have been merged into the written document" (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 989 (6th ed. 1990)). "A binding integrated agreement discharges prior agreements to the extent that it is inconsistent with them." RESTATEMENT (SECOND) § 213(1). As to the question of arbitrability, the credit application is hopelessly and irrevocably inconsistent with the RISC: the first document evidences an agreement in the event of future contingencies to arbitrate a narrow class of disputes relating to threshold creditworthiness, and the second establishes that the parties intended any disagreement surrounding the purchase of and payment for the truck to be determined in the default forum for all such proceedings — a court of law. The subsequent, integrated RISC controls here.

#### B. The credit application had nothing to do with Petitioners' collection efforts.

Though the credit application includes a tacked-on arbitration *clause*, that gateway document manifestly does not encompass an arbitration *agreement* pertinent to the completed transaction. The only claims or disputes that the arbitration clause even arguably covers are those relating to the procurement of Respondents' credit reports and the initial evaluation of their creditworthiness. *See, e.g., Anglin v. Tower Loan of Miss., Inc.*, 635 F. Supp. 2d 523 (S.D. Miss. 2009) (enforcing arbitration agreement as to borrower's claim that lender continued to obtain borrower's credit reports after customer relationship terminated, in violation of federal Fair Credit Reporting Act). Nothing in the credit application (including the arbitration provision) set forth any terms of the parties' subsequent sales transaction, such as the price of the truck, the applicable interest rate, the monthly payments, or the creditor's remedies in the event of default. Those terms are all in the RISC. *See* A. 160 (relating circuit court's finding that financing "is an entirely separate transaction from the actual sales agreement"). *Only* the RISC authorized collection of

any deficiency and specified the means thereof. And the RISC is a fully integrated contract that contains absolutely **no** agreement whatsoever to arbitrate.<sup>4</sup>

### C. The circuit court's ruling was in line with indistinguishable cases from other jurisdictions.

Case authorities nationwide are in accord. Indeed, the court in *Duval Motors Co. v. Rogers*, 73 So. 3d 261 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011), concluded that an RISC with precisely the *same* language and *same* Merger Clause — which, as here, contained no arbitration provision — supplanted a Retail Buyer's Order ("RBO") entered into by the parties earlier that day, and which purported to require arbitration of any dispute. A merger clause, the court explained, is intended "to affirm the parties" intent to have the parol evidence rule applied to their contracts." *Id.* at 265 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The court flatly rejected the dealership's contention that the merger clause operated to prohibit proof of oral modifications solely, elaborating that the parol evidence rule "excludes *all* evidence extrinsic to a fully integrated contract." *Id.* (citation omitted) (emphasis added). The court acknowledged that "[t]he parol evidence rule is often characterized as excluding evidence of an oral agreement[, but] . . . . the evidence excluded under the rule includes *any* evidence outside the instrument that is considered the fully integrated contract." *Id.* at 265 n.3 (citations omitted) (emphasis added); *see* WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS 4th § 70:135

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The preliminary nature of the credit application vis à vis the RISC readily distinguishes this situation from that confronted by the Court in Bluestem, supra. In that case, the plaintiff purchased Bluestem products through a credit agreement with financing entities. Bluestem was not a signatory to the credit agreement, which contained an arbitration provision. The plaintiff defaulted on the credit agreement, after which she was sued by a debt collector. The plaintiff then filed a third-party complaint against Bluestem, alleging that part of the debt was charged in violation of the WVCCPA. This Court held that, although Bluestem was not a party to the credit agreement, it could nonetheless avail itself of the arbitration provision because the plaintiff's claims derived exclusively from the enforcement of that agreement, such that she was estopped from denying its obligations regardless of who the signatory was. Here, though, the applicable contract is not the prefatory credit application — but the RISC, the operative contract through which credit was extended and which contains all the terms of the purchase transaction. There is no claim arising from the credit application in this case.

("[E]ven though parol means verbal, it is not confined to the spoken world."); accord Buckhannon Sales Co., Inc. v. Appalantic Corp., 175 W. Va. 742, 745 (1985) ("Under the parol evidence rule, a written contract is considered to merge all of the negotiations and representations made prior to execution, and extrinsic evidence is not available to alter or interpret language which is otherwise plain and unambiguous on its face." (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)); Peoples Drug, supra, at 240 n.2 (merger clause precludes variation of terms of integrated contract "by prior or oral agreements" (emphasis added)).

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